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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Communications Fiji Limited (the Company), the Directors
herewith submit the consolidated statement of financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
Group) as at 31 December 2023, the related consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended on
that date and report as follows:

Directors

Directors at the date of this report are:

William Parkinson Thelma Savua - Resigned 1 June 2023
Emily King Maciu Lumelume - Resigned 26 March 2024
Josephine Yee Joy Peter Aitsi - Appointed 25 May 2023
Sufinaaz Dean Rajesh Patel - Appointed 1 June 2023

Prastika Payal - Appointed 26 March 2024
Principal Activity

The principal business activity of the holding company and its subsidiaries during the year was the operation of
commercial radio stations which broadcast throughout Fiji and Papua New Guinea, audio/video production and event
management, and property ownership, whereas the associate company provided property rental. During the year, there
was a significant change in the Group's activity due to the disposal of the Group's investment in its associate, Paradise
Cinema Limited.

Results

The operating profit of the Group for the year was $514,604 (2022: $1,551,061) after providing for income tax expense
of $363,111 (2022: $513,038).

Dividends
The dividends declared and paid during the year was $462,540 (2022: $284,640).
Basis of Accounting - Going Concern

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Directors consider the
application of the going concern principle to be appropriate in the preparation of these financial statements as they
believe that the Group has plans and strategies, together with the support of its principal shareholders and lenders to
generate required funding to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due over the next twelve months. Accordingly, the
Directors believe that the classification and carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities as stated in the financial
statements to be appropriate.

Bad Debts and Allowance for Impairment Loss

Prior to the completion of the Group’s financial statements, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that action
had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for impairment loss. In the opinion
of the Directors, adequate allowance has been made for impairment loss.

As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the amount written
off for expected credit losses or the allowance for expected credit losses in the Group inadequate to any substantial
extent.



COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
DIRECTORS' REPORT continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Unusual Transactions

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group during the financial year were not substantially
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material unusual nature, nor has there arisen between the end of the
financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a material unusual nature, likely in the opinion
of the Directors, to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group in the current financial year.

Significant Events During The Year

In June 2023, the Government of Fiji announced its 2023-2024 National Budget which included a revision to the income
tax rate. The income tax rate was raised from 20% to 25% and impacts deferred tax balances recorded in the current year
at the revised rate which has been substantively enacted at 30 June 2023. This also impacts the financial results, tax
payable and deferred tax balances in the current and subsequent financial years.

Apart from the above, there were no other significant matter or circumstances that had arisen during the financial year
which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results or cash flows of those
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in
future financial years.

Other Circumstances
As at the date of this report:

(i) no charge on the assets of the Group has been given since the end of the financial year to secure the liabilities of any
other person;

(ii) no contingent liabilities have arisen since the end of the financial year for which the Group could become liable; and

(iii) no contingent liabilities or other liabilities of the Group have become or are likely to become enforceable within the
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may
substantially affect the ability of the Group to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances that have arisen, not otherwise dealt with
in this report or the Group's financial statements, which would make adherence to the existing method of valuation of
assets or liabilities of the Group misleading or inappropriate.

Directors’ Benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than
those included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors shown in the financial
statements or received as the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Group or of a related corporation) by reason of a
contract made by the Group or by a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he/she is a member, or
with a company in which he/she has a substantial financial interest.



COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
DIRECTORS' REPORT continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Directors' Interests

Particulars of Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the holding company during the year are as follows:

Direct interest Indirect interest
Thelma Savua 2,000 Nil
Sufinaaz Dean Nil 924,846
William Parkinson Nil 924,846

Auditor Independence

The Directors have obtained an independence declaration from the Group’s auditor, KPMG. A copy of the auditor’s
independence declaration is set out in the Auditor’s Independence Declaration on page 6.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dated this 30 day of April 2024.

Director Director



COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

This Directors’ Declaration is required by the Companies Act, 2015.
The Directors of the Company have made a resolution that declared:

(i) In the Directors’ opinion, the financial statements and notes of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2023;

a) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, and give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2023, its financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023;

b) have been made out in accordance with the Companies Act 2015.
(ii) they have received declarations as required by Section 395 of the Companies Act 2015;

(iii) At the date of this declaration, in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dated this 30 day of April 2024.

M (AT
9L
Director Director



KPMG

|6ad Auditors Independence Declaration under
SECLIoN aYa I the Companies Act 2015

To the Directors of Communications Fiji Limited

| declare that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Communications
Fiji Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2023, there have been:

i no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Companies Act
20175 in relation to the audit; and

ii.  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPI\/IGg Christina Vlachos

Partner

Suva, Fiji
30 April, 2024
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KPMG

Independent Auditor's Report

To the shareholders of Communications Fiji Limited

Report on the audit of the Financial Report

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the Financial Report of The Financial Report comprises:

Communications Fiji Limited (the Company). e Consolidated statement of financial position as

In our opinion, except for the effect of the at 31 December 2023;
matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of our report, the
accompanying Financial Report of the
Company is in accordance with the
Companies Act 2015, including:

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, Consolidated
statement of changes in equity, and
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended; and

e giving a true and fair view of the

) ) " Notes including material accounting policies.
Group’s financial position as at 31 * 9 ap

December 2023 and of its financial The Group consists of the Company and the
performance for the year ended on that  entities it controlled at the year-end or from time
date; and to time during the financial year.

e complying with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Basis for Qualified opinion

The Directors have not stated various balances as they relate to the carrying amount and
recoverable amount of the Papua New Guinea (PNG) operating segment in accordance with IAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

The PNG operating segment comprises of two legal entities, PNG FM Limited and FM Haus Ples
Limited, and this is the cash generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill is allocated. The carrying
amount of the goodwill and the cash generating unit as at 31 December 2023, as disclosed in
Note 16(i), is $1,137,000 and $7,600,000 respectively.

As described by the Group in note 3(c), (i) and (j), an impairment is recognised when the carrying
amount of the asset is more than its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount as per IAS 36 is
the higher of fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCD) or value in use (VIU). The Group disclose in
note 16(i) the application of the value-in-use method to determine the recoverable amount of the
CGU and perform the annual test of goodwill for impairment against the requirements of the
accounting standards.

We determined that the following elements of the Group's impairment assessment and related
disclosures were not in accordance with IAS 36, in particular as they relate to the method applied
and the criteria for inputs to be reasonable, supportable, and/or appropriately defined:

KPMG, a Fiji partnership, is part of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are
trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.



KPMG

i. the recoverable amount of the CGU disclosed in Note 16(i) was not determined based on a
VIU method. The Group instead determined the recoverable amount of one entity within the
CGU using a VIU method and the other using FVLCD valuation method, and thereafter
added them together to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU.

. the inputs to the carrying amount of the CGU were inconsistent with those when
determining the VIU recoverable amount of the CGU. For instance, the carrying amount of
the CGU included interest bearing borrowings, however the cash flow projections in the VIU
did not include the related cash outflows for these known obligations.

iii. certain significant assumptions made by the Group relating to the forecasted cash flows
input to the impairment test, such as the committed capital expansionary and maintenance
expenditures and the sales growth rate, could not be supported by the Group when we
requested underlying evidence of their feasibility and reasonability. Additionally, the
forecasted cash flows did not include consideration of the Group's lease commitments
under IFRS 16 Leases.

iv. Certain disclosures are omitted from the financial report on the basis the Group have not
recorded an impairment but should have using accounting standards. It is impractical for us
to describe what these disclosures should be, other than the quantification outlined below,
given the Group has not prepared the Financial Report on this basis.

The Group's records indicate that if the above had been prepared in accordance with accounting
standards, an amount up to $5,941,000 would have been required to write down the carrying
amount of the CGU to its recoverable amount.

The Group indicated the prior year financial statements used the same methodology and model
inputs for the annual impairment test. Notes to the prior year financial statements disclosed a
recoverable amount of the respective CGU as $5.1m with a carrying amount of $4.8m. The errors
arising from the method applied and criteria for inputs above also therefore relate to the prior year
financial statement amounts and disclosures, and it is likely an impairment should be recorded to
write down the carrying amount of the CGU in the year ended 31 December 2022.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the prior year, the year ended 31 December
2022, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements
on 29 March 2023.

While it is impracticable for us to determine the precise financial impacts of the impairment in
accordance with accounting standards, including the impairment relevant to FY22 versus FY23,
we expect the cumulative financial effects of the multi-year adjustments to the financial
statement captions, and the respective disclosures in notes 16, 17 and 18, would have been as
follows:

* Increase in depreciation, amortization and impairment expense by $5,941,000;
=  Decline in income tax expense by $1,441,000;

= Decline in net profit by $4,500,000;

= Decline in total comprehensive income by $4,500,000;

=  Aloss per share of $1.12 would have been incurred, calculated assuming the full impairment
was recorded in the FY23 financial year;

= Decline in intangible assets by $1,143,000;

= Decline in property, plant and equipment by $4,430,000;
= Decline in right of use assets by $368,000;

» Increase in deferred tax assets by $1,441,000;

= Decrease in total non-current assets by $4,500,000;
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= Decrease in total assets by $4,500,000; and
» Decline in shareholder equity by $4,500,000.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together with the Companies Act
2015 and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Fiji. We
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We confirm
that we have remained independent as required by the Code throughout the period of our audit
and to the date of this Auditor’'s Report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the Financial Report of the current period.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion we have determined the matter
described below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Revenue recognition ($13,263,833)

Refer to Note 3(k) and 7(a) to the Financial Report

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group derives most of its revenue from Our procedures included:
radio advertising and event management,
which requires analysis of recognition over
the related contractual term.

= obtaining an understanding of the nature
of the various revenue streams and the
related revenue recording processes,
Revenue recognition was a key audit matter systems and controls;
due to significance of revenue to the
performance of the Group, and the
significant audit effort we have applied in
assessing the Group's recognition and
measurement of revenue.

=  evaluating the appropriateness of the
Group's accounting policies for revenue
recognition for each significant revenue
stream against the requirements of IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with

This was the result of the: Customers and our understanding of the

. . business;
= High volume of revenue transactions;

= testing the Group's reconciliation of

" Wide range of services and product revenue from the billing systems to the

offerings; 4
general ledger for certain core revenue
=  Multiple performance obligations in a streams. This included checking significant
contract with the customer; and reconciling entries between the billing

system and general ledger to underlying
documentation, such as signed customer
contracts.

= Different measures of progress for
different revenue streams recognised
over time,

*=  testing a sample of revenue transactions

In assessing this key audit matter, we
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involved senior audit team members who recorded throughout the year. This
understand the Group’s business, industry included obtaining external confirmations
and the economic environment it operates from a sample of the customers directly,
in. to test the nature, amount and timing of

performance obligations.

= for a sample of credit notes recorded by
the Group subsequent to period end,
checked the period to which the
associated revenue was recognized.

= for a sample of revenue transactions
recognised by the Group either side of the
year-end, checking revenue recognised in
the period to underlying documentation
such as accepted customer quotation,
approved purchase order from the
customers and signed customer contracts,
to assess the timing and progress of
performance obligations being met.

= testing a sample of revenue journal entries
to underlying documentation for
consistency with the Group’s accounting
policy.

= evaluating the Group's disclosures in the
financial report using our understanding
obtained from our testing and against the
requirements of the accounting standards.

Other Information

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Communications Fiji Limited’s annual
report which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor's Report. The Directors
are responsible for the Other Information.

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor's Report was the Directors’
report. The Chairman’s Report, General Manager’'s Report, Corporate Social Responsibility Report,
Corporate Governance, Listing Requirements of SPX and Minutes of Previous AGM are expected to
be made available to us after the date of the Auditor’'s Report.

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do
not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the Financial Report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information and, based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained
prior to the date of this Auditor's Report. We have concluded that such a material misstatement of
Other Information exists, arising from the same matter described in the Basis of Qualified Opinion
section above. Amount quoted in the Other Information for operating profit of the Group after
income tax expense is misstated by the same amount outlined in the Basis of Qualified Opinion
section above.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The Directors are responsible for:

e preparing the Financial Report that give a true and fair view in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 2015;

e implementing necessary internal controls to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; and

e assessing the Group and Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the
use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objective is:

e to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

e toissue an Auditor's Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the Financial Report.

As part of the audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our Auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Financial Report or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Report, including the
disclosures, and whether the Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Financial Report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during the audit.

We also provide Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the Financial Report of the current period and are therefore the Key
Audit Matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion except for the effect of the qualification described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of this report,:

e proper books of account have been kept by the Company, sufficient to enable financial
statements to be prepared, so far as it appears from our examination of those books,; and

e to the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us
the financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act 2015, in the
manner so required.

<o &

Christina Vlachos
Partner

Suva, Fiji
30 April 2024



COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Revenue

Other revenue

Salaries and employee benefits

Depreciation and amortisation

Net impairment reversal/(loss) on trade receivables
Other expenses

Profit from operations

Finance costs
Finance income
Share of profit of associate or joint venture

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive (expense)/income that may be reclassified to profit

or loss in subseguent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share - cents

* Comparative information has been reclassified and represented, see Notes 2(f), 7(a) and 7(b) respectively.

Notes

7(a)
7(b)
7(c)
7(d)

7(e)

7(f)
7(f)
15(a)

25

2023 2022*
$ $
13,263,833 12,766,389

135,167 153,088
(4,376,672) (4,242,089)
(2,582,091) (2,325,938)

23,815 (46,779)
(5,330,407)  (4,146,287)
1,133,645 2,158,384
(378,451)  (285,063)
2,250 28,088
120,271 161,790
877,715 2,064,099
(363,111) _ (513,038)
514,604 1,551,061
37,202 108,311
37,202 108,311
551,806 1,659,372
14.46 43.59

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive

Income.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Inventories

Prepayments and other assets
Current tax asset

Other investments

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Investment in associates and joint ventures
Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Employee benefit liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings
Lease liability

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Employee benefit liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings
Deferred tax liability

Lease liability

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

Shareholders' equity

Share capital

Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings

Total equity

Notes

12
11
14
13
8(b)
22

15(a)
16
17
18

8(c)

20
26
24
21
19

24
21
8(c)
19

23
25

2023 2022
$ $

976,539 2,188,537
2,678,650 2,153,813
36,239 76,920
574,756 418,957
299,977 224,100
- 500,000
4,566,161 5,562,327
3,430,040 3,409,769
1,236,675 1,268,573
11,308,609 9,422,548
2,942,356 1,381,808
895,206 160,133
19,812,886 15,642,831
24,379,047 21,205,158
1,247,525 1,291,364

219,911 -
189,222 191,759
276,031 242,143
674,759 425,529
2,607,448 2,150,795
27,027 25,207
1,881,042 1,362,687
998,905 255,086
2,422,677 1,058,701
5,329,651 2,701,681
7,937,099 4,852,476
16,441,948 16,352,682
3,619,500 3,619,500
(981,038) (1,018,240)
13,803,486 13,751,422
16,441,948 16,352,682

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Operating activities

Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest and bank charges paid
Income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets

Interest income received

Proceeds from redemption of term deposits
Placement of term deposits

Dividends received from the associate

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities

Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent
Loan proceeds

Loan repayments

Payment for lease liability - principal portion only

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Effects of exchange rate changes on opening cash balances

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
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Note

12

2023 2022
$ $
13,319,361 13,205,703
(9,928,544) (8,700,622)
(378,451)  (285,063)
(459,028)  (334,311)
2,553,338 3,885,707
26,227 44,699
(3,263,585) (2,120,306)
(4,610) -
2,250 28,988
500,000 651,671
- (825,836)
100,000 140,000
(2,639,718) (2,080,784)
(462,540)  (284,640)
775,159 630,298
(233,703)  (667,398)
(1,150,073) __ (999,593)
(1,071,157) (1,321,333)
(1,157,537) 483,590
2,188,537 1,760,700
(54,461) (55,753)
976,539 2,188,537




COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Notes 2023 2022
$ $

Retained earnings
Balance at the beginning of the year 13,751,422 12,485,001
Net profit for the year 514,604 1,551,061
Dividends declared 10 (462,540) (284,640)
Balance at the end of the year 13,803,486 13,751,422
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year (1,018,240) (1,126,551)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation 37,202 108,311
Balance at the end of the year 25 (981,038) (1,018,240)
Share capital
Balance at the beginning of the year 3,619,500 3,619,500
Balance at the end of the year 23 3,619,500 3,619,500
Total equity 16,441,948 16,352,682

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1.

a)

b)

a)

b)

General Information
Corporate Information

The consolidated financial statements of Communications Fiji Limited and its subsidiary companies, PNG FM Limited
and FM Haus Ples Limited (the Group) for the year ended 31 December 2023 were authorised for issue with a
resolution of the Directors on ..30th April 2024. Communications Fiji Limited (the holding Company) is a
limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Fiji whose shares are publicly traded on the South Pacific
Stock Exchange.

Principal activity

The principal business activity of the holding company and its subsidiaries during the year was the operation of
commercial radio stations which broadcast throughout Fiji and Papua New Guinea, audio/video production and event
management, and property ownership, whereas the associate company provided property rental. During the year,
there was a significant change in the Group's activity due to the disposal of the Group's investment in its associate,
Paradise Cinema Limited.

Basis of preparation
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as otherwise
stated. Historical cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All values are
presented in Fijian dollars and are rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated.

In the application of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), management is required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgments made by
management in the application of IFRS that have material effects on the financial statements and estimates with a
risk of material adjustments in the future periods are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the
financial statements.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
critical to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 5.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in compliance with the requirements of the Fiji Companies Act, 2015.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

c)

Basis of preparation continued
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the holding company and its subsidiaries
as at 31 December 2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

e power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);
e exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

< the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

e the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed during the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

e derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
< derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

e recognises the fair value of the consideration received,;

e recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

e recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

« reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or
loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2.

c)

d)

e)

Basis of preparation continued
Basis of consolidation continued

On consolidation, the subsidiary company PNG FM Limited's and FM Haus Ples Limited's assets and liabilities have
been translated at the rate of exchange ruling at balance date. Revenue and expense accounts have been translated
using the average of the exchange rates ruling at the end of each month during the current financial year. The rate
used to translate the assets and liabilities of PNG FM was PGK 1.7164: FID 1 (2022: PGK 1.7094: FJD 1) while the
average rate used to translate revenue and expense accounts was PGK 1.5271:FJD 1 (2022: PGK 1.5345:FJD 1).

Changes in accounting policies
New standards, interpretations and amendments effective during the year

New and amended standards that have been adopted in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023, but have not had a material effect on the Group are:

e« Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies;

Material accounting policy information
The Group adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) on

1 January 2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies
themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements. The
amendments require the disclosure of 'material’ rather than 'significant' accounting policies. The amendments
also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies, assisting entities to
provide useful, entity specific accounting policy information that users need to understand other information in
the financial statements. Management reviewed the accounting policies and determined that no updates to the
information disclosed was required.

< Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates; and
< Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction.

New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective
The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2024:

< Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback;
« Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current; and
« Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements .

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments. The Group does
not consider that there are any measurement or recognition issues arising from the release of these new
pronouncements that will have a material impact on the reported financial position or financial performance of the
Group.

Basis of accounting - Going concern

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Directors consider the
application of the going concern principle to be appropriate in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements as they believe that the Group has plans and strategies, together with the support of its principal
shareholders and lenders to generate required funding to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due over the next
twelve months. Accordingly, Directors believe that the classification and carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities as stated in the financial statements to be appropriate.

19



COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

f)

a)

b)

Basis of preparation continued
Comparatives

Certain comparative amounts in the statement of profit or loss have been reclassified and re-presented to conform
with current period financial statement presentation and with the relevant accounting polices.

During the year the Group modified the classification of revenue to align with the Group's revenue recognition policy.
Revenue in note 7(a) include revenue from audio/video production and digital/internet advertising revenue of
$441,203 (2022: $166,026) and $267,012 (2022: $335,974) respectively. This is in prior period was reported as
other income in Note 7(b).

Summary of material accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted by the Group are stated to assist in a general understanding of the consolidated
financial statements. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year except as stated
otherwise.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is
reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at
least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as
appropriate, and are treated as a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with
finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash
generating unit level (CGU). Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite useful life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

|Software
Useful lives Finite (10 - 13 years)
Amortisation method used Amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life
Internally generated or acquired Acquired

Investment in Associate or Joint Venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

b)

c)

Summary of material accounting policies continued
Investment in Associate or Joint Venture continued

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since
the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. Any change
in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s other comprehensive income.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
or losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the
extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and represents profit or loss after tax.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment
loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or
joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of associate or joint venture’ in profit
or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
upon loss of significant influence, the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or other groups of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired assets, except for property previously
revalued where the revaluation was taken to equity. In this case, the impairment is recognised in equity up to the
amount of any previous revaluation.
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3.

c)

d)

Summary of material accounting policies continued

Impairment of non-financial assets continued

The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of specific assets:

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than their carrying amount an
impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amount of other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 31 December either individually
or at the cash generating unit level, as appropriate.

Associate and joint venture

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss of the Group's investment in its associate or joint venture. The Group determines at each balance
date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in associate or joint venture and the acquisition
cost requires impairment and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

Financial Instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) - debt investment; FVOCI - equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the
first reporting period following the change in the business model.
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d)

Summary of material accounting policies continued
Financial Instruments continued

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement continued
Financial assets continued

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

< itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

e it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at
FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group
changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend
income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The ‘effective
interest rate' (EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or the amortised cost of
the financial liability. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.
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d)

Summary of material accounting policies continued
Financial Instruments continued

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement continued
Financial assets continued

Financial assets: Reclassifications continued

Debt investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCl and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

* Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
* Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its consolidated statement of financial

position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases,
the transferred assets are not derecognised.
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COMMUNICATIONS FIJI LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

d)

e)

Summary of material accounting policies continued
Financial Instruments continued

(iii) Derecognition continued

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified
liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at
fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

(iv) Modifications of financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are
substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised (see Note
(3(d) (iii))) and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the modification
does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset and recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification
gain or loss in profit or loss. If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower (see
Note 3(e)), then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as
interest income (see Note 3(f)).

(v) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the balances and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial instruments

The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised
cost. No impairment loss is recognised on equity investment.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, which are
measured as 12-month ECL:

e debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

e other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
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3.

e)

Summary of material accounting policies continued

Impairment of financial instruments continued

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

e the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

* the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

< financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive); and

< financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

< significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

e abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the companies on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
e itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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3.

e)

f)

9)

h)

Summary of material accounting policies continued
Impairment of financial instruments continued
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the
asset.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Finance income and finance costs

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

* interest income on term deposits;
e bank administration and interest charges; and
* interest expense on lease liabilities.

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to:

e the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
< the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Trade and other payables

Liabilities for trade payables and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be
paid in the future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the Group.
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)

Summary of material accounting policies continued
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in
value. The principal depreciation rates in use for the current and comparative period are:

Buildings 2-10%
Plant and equipment 7% - 20%
Motor vehicles 18% - 25%

Profit and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment are taken into account in determining profit or loss for
the year.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to
their recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is greater of the net selling price and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an
asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as lessee

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for
the leases of land and buildings in which it is a lessee, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful
lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of
the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the
discount rate.
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Summary of material accounting policies continued

Leases continued
Group as lessee continued

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the items of the lease and the type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

« fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

e the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments
in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and
penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the group changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Revenue

The Group recognises revenue from selling goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration that the Group is expected to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer, using a five-step model for each revenue stream as prescribed in IFRS 15. The five-
step model is as follows:

(i) ldentification of the contract;

(ii) Identification of separate performance obligations for each good or service;
(iii) Determination of the transaction price;

(iv) Allocation of the price to performance obligations; and

(v) Recognition of revenue.
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Summary of material accounting policies continued

Revenue continued

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or service

to a customer.

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and significant payment terms

Revenue recognition is based on the satisfaction of performance obligations and an assessment of when control is
transferred to the customer. The transaction price allocated to these performance obligations are stated net of any

sales taxes and agency commissions.

Customer contracts vary across the Group and may contain a variety of performance obligations. Under IFRS 15, the
Group must evaluate whether goods or services are transferred over time or at a point in time for each performance

obligation.

Revenue class

Revenue recognition

Measure of progress

Radio advertising

The advertising contracts are short-term in nature and include
a number of “spots” that are delivered over the term of the
arrangement. For broadcast of commercials on the radio, the
performance obligation is identified at the contract level as it
represents a promise to deliver an agreed number of spots, at
an agreed price per spot and along with other specifications.

Each performance obligations (i.e. spots delivered) is satisfied
over time as the customer receives and consumes the benefits
simultaneously the spots are aired.

Number of spots aired.

Digital/ internet
advertising

The advertising contracts are short-term in nature and include
the number of days the respective customer's banners and/or
logos are displayed on the Company's managed website over
the term of the arrangement. The performance obligation is
identified at the contract level as it represents a promise to
display customer banners/logos for an agreed number of days
at an agreed price per day and along with other specifications.

Each performance obligations is satisfied over time as the
customer receives and consumes the benefits over the agreed
time.

Time elapsed.
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Summary of material accounting policies continued

Revenue continued

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and significant payment terms continued

A summary of how the key classes of revenue are recognised is provided below:

Revenue class

Revenue recognition

Measure of progress

Audio/video
production

The contracts are short-term in nature and may include
multiple promises or activities to be executed such as pre-
production, production, and post-production related activities.
Each of these activities or promises in the contract are
considered separate performance obligations and the price is
agreed with the customer for each of these performance
obligations and promises.

Each performance obligation is satisfied over time because the
Company has no alternative use of the commercial produced as
it cannot be redirected to another customer without significant
rework and cost. Additionally, under the contractual
arrangements, the Company has a right to payment for costs
incurred to date.

Time elapsed.

Event management

The contracts are short-term in nature and may include
multiple promises or activities to be executed such as hire and
set-up of equipment and event management and/or organising
services. Each of these activities or promises in the contract
are considered separate performance obligations and price is
agreed with the customer for each of these performance
obligations and promises.

Each performance obligation is satisfied as follows:

a. Hire and set-up of equipment - over time as the customer
receives and consumes the benefits when the equipment are
used.

b. Event management/organising services - point in time which
is at the completion of the event that has been organised.

a. Time elapsed.

b.Point in time.

The Group also determines whether its performance obligation is to provide the goods or services to media agencies
as the Group’s customers, or whether the Group’s customers are the third-party advertisers (principal versus agent).
The Group’s customers are media agencies and accordingly advertising revenue is recognised net of agency

commission as this is treated as payments made to a customer.

Customer contracts are generally less than one year in duration, as are all standard payments terms. Invoices are
issued monthly and are usually payable within 30 days thus there is no significant financing component within the
Company’s operations.

The transaction price is determined based on the agreed terms of the contract and is fixed given price concessions

and discounts are negotiated during the quotation process.
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Summary of material accounting policies continued
Revenue continued
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods and services transferred to the customer. If the
Company meets the performance obligation by transferring goods and services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the
Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made,
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company
performs under the contract.

Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders' right to receive the payment is established.
Employee benefits

Annual leave

Provision is made for annual leave to be payable to employees on the basis of statutory requirement in employment
contract.

Long-service leave

The liability for long-service leave is recognised in the provision for employee entitlements and measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect to services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Consideration is given to future wage/salary rates, experience of employee departures and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Fijian dollars, which is the holding company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies
are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at
balance date. All differences are taken to profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value is determined.
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Summary of material accounting policies continued
Foreign currencies continued

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Fijian dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at
balance date whilst the financial performance is translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the year. The
exchange difference arising on translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of the
foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. It is then considered in the determination
of goodwill.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted at balance date.
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Summary of material accounting policies continued

0) Taxes continued

Current income tax continued

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in comprehensive
income.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at balance date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill impairment or the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, associates and interest
in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

< where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that it is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance date. Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and
not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
Sales tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

< where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable; and
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Summary of material accounting policies continued
Taxes continued

Sales tax continued
e receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales taxes recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consists of interest and
other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes invoice value plus associated costs
incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make a sale.

Risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (foreign exchange risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by executive management. Executive management identifies, evaluates and
monitors financial risks in close co-operation with the operating units. The Board of Directors provide policies for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk.

Financial risks

The main financial risks to the Group are the following:

i. Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates
primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency) and the
Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries.

The Group has investments in Papua New Guinea. The movement in the Kina/Fiji dollar exchange rates are recorded
in equity and will be realised on disposal of the investment. The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arises from purchases by the Group in currencies other than Fijian dollars.
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a) Financial risks continued
Foreign currency sensitivity

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the PNG exchange rate, with all
other variables held constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not

material.
Change in Effect on Effect on
PNG rate profit before total equity
tax
$ $
2023 +5% (16,329) (248,832)
-5% 18,047 275,025
2022 +5% (46,113) (230,601)
-5% 50,967 254,875
ii. Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by
management on a regular basis.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any Group of
counterparties having similar characteristics. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

Net impairment reversal on financial assets amounting to $23,815 (2022: impairment loss of $46,779) was
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Trade and other receivables

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade and other receivables from individual customers,
which comprise a large number of small balances.

Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to write-off.
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a) Financial risks continued

ii. Credit risk continued

Trade and other receivables continued

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables

from individual customers:

Weighted- Gross
average loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
% $ $

31 December 2023
Current (not past due) 2.36% 1,288,813 30,416
30 days past due 3.99% 865,941 34,513
60 days past due 9.33% 255,698 23,861
More than 90 days past due 14.86% 419,313 62,325

2,829,765 151,115
Debtors specifically assessed 119,019 119,019

2,948,784 270,134

Weighted- Gross
average loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
% $ $

31 December 2022
Current (not past due) 3.62% 1,138,444 41,189
30 days past due 5.68% 556,245 31,591
60 days past due 9.62% 338,750 32,589
More than 90 days past due 18.31% 276,324 50,581

2,309,763 155,950
Debtors specifically assessed 131,463 131,463

2,441,226 287,413

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past years. These rates are multiplied by scalar factors
to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Scalar factors are based on actual and forecast GDP.

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss in respect of trade receivables was as follows:

Balance at 1 January
Charge for the year

Debtors written off against allowance

Reversed during the year
Translation adjustment

Balance at 31 December

2023 2022
$ $
287,413 272,615
82,664 46,779
- (40,424)
(106,479) -

6,536 8,443
270,134 287,413
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a) Financial risks continued
ii.  Credit risk continued
Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $976,539 at 31 December 2023 (2022: $2,188,537). It also held term
deposits of $Nil (2022: $500,000) as at balance date. Cash are held with bank and financial institutions, which have
sound credit ratings.

The Group considers that its cash have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.
iii.  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to ensure
availability of funding. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and
reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

Carrying Less than a
amount Total year 1 to 5 years 5+ years
$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables 1,247,525 1,247,525 1,247,525 - -
Interest-bearing borrowings 2,157,073 2,702,364 428,870 1,572,431 701,063
Lease liability 3,097,436 3,491,581 724,866 1,507,966 1,258,749

6,502,034 7,441,470 2,401,261 3,080,397 1,959,812

At 31 December 2022

Trade and other payables 1,291,364 1,291,364 1,291,364 - -
Interest-bearing borrowings 1,604,830 2,065,668 340,329 920,181 805,158
Lease liability 1,484,230 2,521,664 506,098 777,655 1,237,911

4,380,424 5,878,696 2,137,791 1,697,836 2,043,069

iv. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group's interest-bearing borrowings. The level of debt is disclosed in Note 21.
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Risk management continued

iv. Interest rate risk continued
Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates. With all other
variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rates as follows:

Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) in  profit before
basis points tax
2023 +10 bp (21,571)
-10 bp 21,571
2022 +10 bp (25,629)
-10 bp 25,629

Other risks
i. Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, and fraud. When controls fail to
perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial
crisis. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risk, however through a control framework and by
monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able to manage risks. Controls include effective
segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment
procedures.

ii. Regulatory risks

The Group’s profitability can be impacted by regulatory agencies established which govern the business sector in Fiji
and Papua New Guinea.

Additionally, the salaries and wages payable to workers are subject to the wages regulations and employment
legislations. Licensing authorities in respective countries regulate the licensing aspects required for operations.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and in
future are discussed below.

Note 3(c) - Impairment of non-financial assets
Note 3(e) - Impairment of financial instruments
Note 3(i) - Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
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6. Segment information

The holding company and its subsidiary, PNG FM Limited operates predominantly in the radio broadcasting services
industry. The holding company's other subsidiary, FM Haus Ples Limited is currently constructing a commercial
property in PNG. For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its geographical
location and the company's ability to generate cash flows independently. Since FM Haus does not generate cash
flows independently and is reliant on PNG FM Limited, both are reported as a single segment. For this reason the
Group has two reportable segments, Fiji and PNG.

The Executive Management Committee is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) and monitors the operating
results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured consistently
with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment.

Reportable segments  Company Operations

Fiji Communications Fiji Limited Operation of commercial radio stations which broadcast
throughout  Fiji, audio/video production and event
management.

Papua New Guinea PNG FM Limited Operation of three commercial FM radio stations which
broadcast throughout Papua New Guinea, audio/video

production and event management.

Papua New Guinea FM Haus Ples Limited Construction of a commercial property.

Geographical segments

The following tables present revenue and profit information and certain asset and liability information regarding
geographical segments for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Year ended 31 December 2023 PNG Fiji Eliminations Total

$ $ $ $
Revenue
External sales 6,194,696 7,069,137 - 13,263,833
Results
Segment result 751,324 436,171 (53,850) 1,133,645
Finance costs (225,395) (153,056) - (378,451)
Finance income - 2,250 - 2,250
Share of profit of joint venture - 120,271 - 120,271
Profit before income tax 525,929 405,636 (53,850) 877,715
Income tax expense (140,514) (222,597) - (363,111)
Net profit 385,415 183,039 (53,850) 514,604
Year ended 31 December 2023 PNG Fiji Eliminations Total

$ $ $ $
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 14,503,652 12,742,022 (7,804,236) 19,441,438
Goodwill allocated to PNG FM Limited - - 1,507,569 1,507,569
Investment in joint venture - 3,430,040 - 3,430,040
Total assets 14,503,652 16,172,062 (6,296,667) 24,379,047
Segment liabilities 9,278,177 4,297,268 (5,638,346) 7,937,099
Total liabilities 9,278,177 4,297,268 (5,638,346) 7,937,099
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6. Segment information continued

Other segment information
Capital expenditure:
- property, plant and equipment
- intangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation - property, plant and equipment

Depreciation - right-of-use assets
(Reversal)/allowance for impairment loss - receivables

Cash flows
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

Year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue
External sales*

Results
Segment result

Finance costs
Finance income
Share of profit of joint venture

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Net profit

Year ended 31 December 2022

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets

Investment in joint venture

Goodwill allocated to PNG FM Limited

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Total liabilities

PNG Fiji Eliminations Total
$ $ $ $
2,012,158 1,251,427 - 3,263,585
425 4,185 - 4,610
4,665 32,306 - 36,971
513,363 880,081 - 1,393,444
769,938 381,738 - 1,151,676
(112,248) 88,433 - (23,815)
1,549,157 1,207,884
(1,998,116) (641,602)
(344,305) (930,556)
PNG Fiji Eliminations Total
$ $ $ $
6,443,702 6,322,687 - 12,766,389
1,263,802 894,634 (52) 2,158,384
(206,201) (78,862) - (285,063)
21,131 7,857 - 28,988
- 161,790 - 161,790
1,078,732 985,419 (52) 2,064,099
(370,459) (142,579) - (513,038)
708,273 842,840 (52) 1,551,061
PNG Fiji Eliminations Total
$ $ $ $
11,671,309 10,511,297 (5,894,786) 16,287,820
- 3,409,769 - 3,409,769
- - 1,507,569 1,507,569
11,671,309 13,921,066 (4,387,217) 21,205,158
6,722,063 1,873,459 (3,743,046) 4,852,476
6,722,063 1,873,459 (3,743,046) 4,852,476

*The comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the presentation and classified for the year ended

31 December 2023. Refer to note 2(f).
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6. Segment information continued
Year ended 31 December 2022 PNG Fiji Eliminations Total
Other segment information $ $ $ $
Capital expenditure:
- property, plant and equipment 453,785 1,602,782 - 2,056,567
- intangible assets 8,493 - - 8,493
Amortisation of intangible assets 6,087 39,809 - 45,896
Depreciation - property, plant and equipment 416,802 863.793 i 1.280.595
Depreciation - right-of-use assets 719,084 280,363 - 999,447
Allowance for impairment loss - receivables - 46,779 - 46,779
Cash flows
Operating activities 1,688,864 2,186,120
Investing activities (149,985) (1,934,722)
Financing activities (846,499) (460,188)
2023 2022
7. Revenue and expenses $ $
Revenue, expenses and finance costs for the year include the following:
a) Revenue
Radio advertising 9,553,506 10,482,760
Digital/internet advertising* 441,203 335,974
Event management 3,002,112 1,781,629
Audio/video production* 267,012 166,026
Total revenue from contracts with customers 13,263,833 12,766,389
Geographical markets
Fiji 7,069,137 6,322,687
Papua New Guinea 6,194,696 6,443,702
Total revenue from contracts with customers 13,263,833 12,766,389
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods and services transferred at a point in time 3,002,112 1,781,629
Services transferred over time 10,261,721 10,984,760
Total revenue from contracts with customers 13,263,833 12,766,389
*The comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the presentation and classified for the year ended
31 December 2023. Refer to note 2(f).
b) Other revenue
Other income* 131,103 134,218
Gain on disposal of assets 4,064 18,870
135,167 153,088
*The comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the presentation and classified for the year ended
31 December 2023. Refer to note 2(f).
c) Salaries and employee benefits
Superannuation and Fiji National University levy 277,073 219,361
Salaries and wages 3,425,272 3,245,441
Staff commission and bonus 200,519 335,578
Staff training 77,069 54,516
Other staff cost 396,739 387,193
4,376,672 4,242,089
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d)

e)

f)

a)

Revenue and expenses continued

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Other expenses

Advertising and promotions
Agency commission

APRA copyright fees

Auditors remuneration - audit fees
Electricity

Event management costs

Fuel and oil

Insurance

Directors’ remuneration

Leases payments - short term and low value
Other professional services

Travel costs

Other operating expenses

Finance costs and income
Finance costs
Bank charges

Interest on bank loan
Interest on lease liability

Finance income

Interest income

Income tax

Income tax expense

The prima facie income tax payable on profit is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

Accounting profit before income tax

Prima facie tax thereon: - Fiji rate of 25% (2022: 10%)

- PNG rate of 30%
Tax effect of non-deductible items
Share of profit of associate or joint venture non-taxable
Tax losses not recognised during the year
Under provision of income tax expense in prior year
Tax effect of change in Fiji's tax rate on deferred taxes

Income tax expense attributable to operating profit

43

2023 2022
$ $

1,393,444 1,280,595
1,151,676 999,447
36,971 45,896
2,582,091 2,325,938
56,910 62,235
94,961 65,618
65,267 119,131
68,400 55,500
437,489 378,543
1,531,254 815,724
171,212 186,509
265,782 230,992
207,206 173,005
61,590 34,888
34,673 39,531
238,726 96,999
2,096,938 1,887,612
5,330,407 4,146,287
17,728 16,577
133,335 126,405
227,388 142,081
378,451 285,063
2,250 28,988
877,715 2,064,099
101,409 98,542
157,778 335,273
12,908 39,883
- (22,815)

19,094 -
43,125 19,787
28,797 42,368
363,111 513,038
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a)

b)

c)

Income tax continued

Income tax expense continued

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are:

Consolidated profit or loss

Current income tax:

Current income tax charge

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year
Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
Tax effect of change in Fiji's tax rate on deferred taxes

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss

Current tax asset

Opening balance

Income tax / withholding tax paid

Tax liability for the year

Over provision of current tax in prior year
Other adjustments

Withholding tax credits

Translation adjustment

Total current tax asset

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) at 31 December relates to the following:

Allowance for impairment loss

Employee entitlements

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes
Lease liabilities

Right of use assets

Unrealised loss

Net deferred tax liability

Represented on the consolidated statement of financial position as:

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2023 2022
$ $
338,105 421,013
57,253 19,787
(61,044) 29,870
28,797 42,368
363,111 513,038
224,100 299,165
403,368 334,311
(338,105)  (421,013)
(21,714) 12,248
(23,981) -
36,446 -
19,861 (611)
299,975 224,100
44,804 74,937
71,607 56,694
(256,370)  (255,086)
778,795 360,434
(742,535)  (335,164)
- 3,232
(103,699) (94,953)
895,206 495,297
(998,905)  (590,250)
(103,699) (94,953)

Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of tax losses incurred by the Group's subsidiary FM Haus Ples
Limited amounting to $19,094, because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the Group can use the benefits therefrom. As per PNG's tax rules, the tax losses incurred can be carried forward for a

maximum seven years.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

2023 2022
Earnings per share $ $
Operating profit after income tax 514,604 1,551,061
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 3,558,000 3,558,000
Basic earnings per share - cents 14.46 43.59

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

There are no convertible redeemable preference shares for the Group. There have been no transaction involving
ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of these
consolidated financial statements.

Dividends paid and proposed

Declared and paid in year:

Final dividend for 2021: 4 cents - 142,320
1st Interim dividend for 2022: 4 cents - 142,320
Final dividend for 2022: 13 cents 462,540 -

Dividends declared and paid 462,540 284,640

Trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables 2,948,784 2,441,226
Less: allowance for expected credit loss (270,134) (287,413)

2,678,650 2,153,813

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31
December:

Cash at bank (i) 976,539 2,188,537
Short term deposits (ii) - -

976,539 2,188,537
Bank overdraft - -

Total cash and cash equivalents 976,539 1,986,939

(i) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
(ii) Short-term deposits are made for varying periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,

and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

Prepayments and other assets

Refundable deposits 176,670 171,464

Prepayments 180,483 182,995

Other receivables 217,603 64,498
574,756 418,957

Inventories

Goods in transit 36,239 76,920
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2023 2022

15. Investment in associate and joint venture $ $

a) Investment in 231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited
The holding Company has a shareholding of 50% interest in 231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited, a company
involved in property management. The Company’s investment in 231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited is accounted
for using the equity method. Summarised financial information of 231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited, based on
its financial statements, and reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment are set out below:
Current assets 297,493 115,263
Non-current assets 7,641,160 7,638,922
Current liabilities (62,765) (31,299)
Non-current liabilities (1,015,809) (903,349)
Net assets 6,860,079 6,819,537
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 50% 50%
Carrying amount of investment 3,430,040 3,409,769
Summarised statement of profit or loss of 231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited:
Revenue 559,890 472,581
Expenses (93,311) (75,319)
Profit before tax 466,579 397,262
Income tax expense (226,037) (73,683)
Profit for the year 240,542 323,579
Total comprehensive income for the year 240,542 323,579
Group’s share of profit for the year 120,271 161,790
Total share of profit from associate 120,271 161,790
231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2023
(2022: $nil).

b) Investment in Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited

PNG FM Limited reclassified its investment in Paradise Cinema Limited (PCL) to Asset held for sale in 2022. The
investment was disposed on 7 February 2023. In 2022, PNG FM Limited had 43.87% shareholding in Paradise
Cinemas (PNG) Limited, a company involved in cinema entertainment in Papua New Guinea. The Group’s investment
in Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited was accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements. Summarised financial information of Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited are set out below:

$ $

Current assets, including cash and cash equivalents and prepayments - 2,795,157
Current liabilities, including tax payables - (3,717,180)
Net assets - (922,023)
Original investment - Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited
At 1 January 4,267,578 4,103,385
Disposal during the year (4,250,175) -
Translation adjustments (17,403) 164,193

- 4,267,578
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15. Investment in associate and joint venture continued

b)

16.

Investment in Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited continued

Less: cumulative share of losses
At 1 January

Disposal during the year
Translation adjustments

Less: Impairment loss
At 1 January

Disposal during the year
Translation adjustments

Net carrying amount of investment - Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited

Summarised statement of profit or loss of Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited:

Revenue
Expenses

Loss for the year

Unrecognised Group’s share of loss for the year

2023 2022
$ $
(2,224,512) (2,138,925)
2,215,441 -
9,071 (85,587)
- (2,224,512)
(2,043,066) (1,964,460)
2,034,734 -
8,332 (78,606)
- (2,043,066)
- 711,918
- (842,701)
- (130,783)
- (57,375)

PNG FM Limited had disposed during the year its investment in Paradise Cinemas (PNG) Limited and had settled all
guarantees and legal obligations in regards to this investment. The Group sold and transferred all it shares in the

Associate to City Pharmacy Limited for a consideration of K1.00.

Total investment in associates and joint ventures

Intangible assets

Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 January 2023
Additions

Disposal

Other adjustments
Translation adjustment

At 31 December 2023

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2023

Amortisation charge for the year

Disposal

Translation adjustment

At 31 December 2023

Net written down value:
At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022
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$ $
3,430,040 3,409,769
Goodwill Software Total
$ $ $
1,507,569 494,816 2,002,385
- 4,610 4,610
- (24,904) (24,904)
- (4) (4)
- (240) (240)
1,507,569 474,278 1,981,847
370,569 363,243 733,812
- 36,971 36,971
- (24,904) (24,904)
- (707) (707)
370,569 374,603 745,172
1,137,000 99,675 1,236,675
1,137,000 131,573 1,268,573
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16. Intangible assets continued

)] Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives

Goodwill acquired through a business combination with indefinite life has been allocated to the subsidiary acquired,
PNG FM Limited. PNG FM Limited and FM Haus Ples Limited make up a single CGU and the PNG reportable segment,
for impairment testing as follows:

2023 2022
$ $
Carrying amount of goodwill 1,137,000 1,137,000

The recoverable amount of the CGU was based on its value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows to
be generated from the continuing use of the radio segment PNG FM Limited and the net tangible value of the
property management segment, FM Haus Ples Limited. The carrying amount of the CGU comprising both segments
amounting to approximately $7.6m was determined to be lower than its recoverable amount of $11.43m, indicating
that goodwill was not impaired at year end.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount for the radio segment are set out below. The
values assigned to the key assumptions represent management's assessments of future trends in PNG broadcasting
industry and have been based on historical data from both external and internal sources.

In percent 2023 2022

Discount rate (WACC) 18% 21%
Terminal value growth rate 2.6% 4%
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (average of next five years) 5% 8%

The discount rate was a pre-tax measure based on the rate of 10-year government bonds issued by the PNG
Government and in the same currency as the cash flows, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both the increased
risk of investing in equities and the systematic risk of the PNG CGU.

Five years of cash flows were included in the discounted cash flow model. A long-term growth rate into perpetuity
has been determined as the nominal Gross Domestic Product (GDP) rate for PNG in which the CGU operates and the
long-term compound annual EBITDA growth rates estimated by management.

Budgeted EBITDA was based on expectations of future outcomes taking into account the past two financial years
experience, adjusted for anticipated revenue growth. Revenue growth was projected taking into account the average
growth levels experienced over the last two financial years post COVID-19. Management's approved budget also
reflected the estimated cash flows relating to capital commitments necessary to maintain the level of economic
benefit expected to arise from assets in its current condition.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy, together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 are shown below:

Significant unobservable inputs Range Sensitivity of the input to fair value

Discount rate (WACC) 17%-19% A 1% increase in the WACC would result in a decrease in fair
value by $537,000. A 1% decrease in the WACC would result
in an increase in fair value by $612,000.

Terminal value growth rate 0.6% to 4.6% A 2% increase in the terminal growth rate would result in an
increase in the fair value by $753,000. A 2% decrease in the
terminal value growth rate would result in a decrease in fair
value of $580,000.

Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (average 0% to 10% A 5% increase in the EBITDA growth rate would result in an

of next five years) increase in the fair value by $2,607,000. A 5% decrease in
the terminal value growth rate would result in a decrease in
fair value of $2,607,000.
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17.

18.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and Motor Work in
buildings equipment vehicles progress Total
$ $ $ $ $

Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2023 512,255 12,616,933 854,257 3,285,900 17,269,345
Additions 3,920 1,392,310 218,855 1,648,500 3,263,585
Disposals - (161,319) - - (161,319)
Translation adjustment (136) (18,218) (1,106) (13,401) (32,861)
At 31 December 2023 516,039 13,829,706 1,072,006 4,920,999 20,338,750
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 411,994 6,911,253 523,550 - 7,846,797
Depreciation charge for the year 20,248 1,231,110 142,086 - 1,393,444
Transfers - 459 - - 459
Disposals - (141,376) - - (141,376)
Translation adjustment (1,178) (60,885) (7,120) - (69,183)
At 31 December 2023 431,064 7,940,561 658,516 - 9,030,141
Net written down value:
At 31 December 2023 84,975 5,889,145 413,490 4,920,999 11,308,609
At 31 December 2022 100,261 5,705,680 330,707 3,285,900 9,422,548

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that is still
in use is $3,558,842 (2022: $1,045,307).

Due to the imminent relocation of PNG FM Limited to a new premise, the useful lives of assets that are considered
non-movable and/or be scrapped have had their useful lives diminished and depreciation on these assets had been
accelerated. The effect of this was an increase in depreciation of $119,990.

The commercial property that FM Haus Ples Limited is currently constructing has a carrying value of $4,920,999
and has been pledged as collateral against the bank loan.

Right-of-use assets

The Group has lease contracts for office premises, dedicated internet service lines and transmission sites used in its
operations. Leases of transmission sites generally have lease terms between 3 and 99 years, leases for dedicated
service lines generally have lease terms between 1 to 3 years and office premises generally have lease terms of 1 to
6 years. Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some contracts
require the Company to maintain certain financial ratios. There are several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options.

The Group also has certain leases of office equipment with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office
equipment with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition
exemptions for these leases.
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18.

19.

Right-of-use assets continued

Gross carrying amount

At 1 January 2023

Additions

Modifications

Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

Other adjustments

Translation adjustment

At 31 December 2023

Leases

Lease liabilities

Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year
One to five years
More than five years

Total undiscounted lease liabilities

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position at 31 December

Balance as at 1 January

Additions

Modification

Accretion of interest for the year
Less: payments made during the year
Other adjustments

Translation adjustment

Current
Non-current

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Short term / variable lease payments

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of cash flows

Total cash outflow for leases (principal and interest)

Dedicated
Office internet Transmission
premises service line sites Total
$ $ $ $
291,759 34,015 1,056,034 1,381,808
1,283,799 316,819 252,349 1,852,967
- - 784,759 784,759
(667,217) (137,809) (346,650) (1,151,676)
- - (8,495) (8,495)
- - 461 461
47,649 - 34,883 82,532
955,990 213,025 1,773,341 2,942,356
2023 2022
$ $
724,866 506,098
1,507,966 777,655
1,258,749 1,237,911
3,491,581 2,521,664
1,484,230 1,596,329
1,852,966 778,595
826,024 -
191,493 142,081
(1,341,566) (1,141,674)
- 190
84,279 108,709
3,097,426 1,484,230
674,759 425,529
2,422,677 1,058,701
3,097,436 1,484,230
1,151,676 999,447
191,493 142,081
61,590 34,888
1,404,759 1,176,416
1,341,566 1,141,674
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19.

20.

21.

Leases continued

Extension options

Some leases for office premises, dedicated internet service lines and transmission sites contain extension options
exercisable by the Group up to 5 years for both office premises and transmission sites and up to 3 years for
dedicated internet service lines before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Group
seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group assesses at the lease commencement date whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Group reassesses whether is reasonably certain to
exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in the circumstances within its control.

The Group has estimated that the potential future lease payments, should it exercise the extension option, would

result in an increase in lease liability of $2,581,707.

2023 2022
Trade and other payables $ $
Trade payables 174,647 259,259
VAT payable 78,249 85,469
GST payable 48,449 31,096
Withholding tax payable 11,798 3,949
Accruals and other payables 934,382 911,591
1,247,525 1,291,364
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:
- Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60-day terms.
- Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.
Interest-bearing borrowings $ $
. . . o L L - 105,530
Business loan - Westpac Banking Corporation Limited (Communications Fiji Limited)
Business loan - Westpac Banking Corporation Limited (PNG FM Limited) 2,157,073 1,499,300
2,157,073 1,604,830
Disclosure in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:
Current 276,031 242,143
Non-current 1,881,042 1,362,687
2,157,073 1,604,830
Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings Lease Total
liabilities
$ $ $
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,604,830 1,484,230 3,089,060
Changes from financing cashflows
Proceeds from borrowing for PNG FM Limited 775,159 - 775,159
Proceeds from borrowing for Communications Fiji Limited - - -
Repayment of borrowing by PNG FM Limited (128,173) - (128,173)
Repayment of borrowing by Communications Fiji Limited (105,530) - (105,530)
Payment of lease liabilities, net - (1,150,073) (1,150,073)
Total changes from financing cash flows 541,456 (1,150,073) (608,617)
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21. Interest-bearing borrowings continued

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities continued

Borrowings Lease Total
liabilities
$ $ $
Other changes - liability related
Interest expense incurred by PNG FM Limited 132,445 85,457 217,902
Interest expense incurred by Communications Fiji Limited 890 141,931 142,821
Interest paid by PNG FM Limited (132,445) (85,457) (217,902)
Interest paid by Communications Fiji Limited (890) (141,931) (142,821)
New lease liabilities - 1,852,966 1,852,966
Modification of leases - 826,024 826,024
Other adjustments and translation 10,788 84,279 95,067
Total liability related other charges 10,788 2,763,269 2,774,057
Balance at 31 December 2023 2,157,074 3,097,426 5,254,500
Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings Lease Total
liabilities
$ $ $
Balance at 1 January 2022 1,564,727 1,596,329 3,161,056
Changes from financing cashflows
Proceeds from borrowing 630,298 - 630,298
Repayment of borrowing (667,398) - (667,398)
Payment of lease liabilities, net - (999,593) (999,593)
Total changes from financing cash flows (37,100) (999,593) (1,036,693)
Other changes - liability related
Interest expense 126,405 142,081 268,486
Interest paid (126,405) (142,081) (268,486)
New lease liabilities - 778,595 778,595
Other adjustments and translation 77,203 108,899 186,102
Total liability related other charges 77,203 887,494 964,697
Balance at 31 December 2022 1,604,830 1,484,230 3,089,060

In 2023, the subsidiary company, PNG FM Limited obtained a new loan facility from Westpac Banking Corporation
Limited for the construction of FM Haus Ples Limited's investment property. Progressive drawdowns made during the
year amounted to $775,159. The facility is for a term of 10 years and is subject to an interest rate of 6.50% p.a. with

agreed monthly repayments of $8,833 and is secured by the following:

() Guarantee and indemnity unlimited as to amount given by FM Haus Ples Limited 1-123535 on account of PNG

FM Limited 1-18494.

(i) Registered mortgage given by FM Haus Ples Limited 1-123535 over Allotment 9 Section 225 Hohola, Port

Moresby, National Capital District. Crown Lease Volume 27 Folio 6677.

(i) Guarantee and indemnity unlimited as to amount given by Communications (Fiji) Limited 5979 on account of

PNG FM Limited 1-18494.
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21.

Interest-bearing borrowings continued

(iv) General security agreement between the Lender and PNG FM Limited 1-18494 over All Debtors Present and
After Acquired Property. PPSR No. 1001536396.

(v) General security agreement between the Lender and FM Haus Ples Limited 1-123535 over All Debtors Present
and After Acquired Property. PPSR No. 1005897554.

Bank overdraft facility

(a) The holding company has an overdraft facility with Westpac Banking Corporation Limited of $700,000 which
includes a $500,000 temporary facility which is secured by a first registered mortgage debenture over the assets of
Communications Fiji Limited and undertakings including its uncalled and called but unpaid capital.

2023 2022
22. Other investments $ $
Current
Term deposits
- Kontiki Finance Limited - 500,000

23.

Term deposits with Kontiki Finance Limited are held for a period of 12 months at a competitive interest rate.

Share capital )

As at the end of the financial year, the number of fully paid ordinary shares was 3,558,000. Ordinary shares entitle
the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the Company in proportion to the number of
shares held. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting of the Company, in person or by proxy, is entitled to
one vote, and upon a poll each ordinary share is entitled to one vote. Ordinary shares have no par value.

$ $
Issued and paid up capital
3,558,000 ordinary shares 3,619,500 3,619,500
24. Employee benefit liabilities $ $
Current
Annual leave 143,743 119,133
Long service leave 45,479 72,626
Total current employee benefit liabilities 189,222 191,759
Non-current
Long service leave 27,027 25,207
Total non-current employee benefit liabilities 27,027 25,207
216,249 216,966
25. Foreign currency translation reserve $ $
Balance as at 1 January (1,018,240) (1,126,551)
Currency translation difference 37,202 108,311
Balance as at 31 December (981,038) (1,018,240)

Foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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26.

27.

a)

28.

29.

a)

b)

c)

2023 2022
Contract liabilities $ $
Advances received 219,911 -

The contract liability relates to advance provided by a customer on an event management service contract entered
by the Group with a customer. The event as per contract arrangement is to occur in January 2024, thus this contract
liability will be recognized as revenue in January 2024.

Commitments $ $

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments 5,989,595 7,045,389

Included in the Group's capital commitments is $4,076,198 for the construction of the commercial property
currently carried out by FM Haus Ples Limited.

Contingent liabilities $ $

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had contingent liabilities consisting of bank guarantees that are disclosed in
Note 21.

Contingent liabilities exist with respect to the following:

Guarantees given to EFL 8,660 8,660

Related party disclosures

Parent and ultimate controlling party

As at 31 December 2023 majority of the shares of Communications Fiji Limited is owned by Parkinson Holdings Pte
Limited and as a result is the ultimate controlling party of the Group. The ultimate controlling party does not produce
consolidated financial statements available for public use.

Directors

The names of persons who were Directors of the holding company at any time during the financial year are as
follows:

William Parkinson Thelma Savua - Resigned 1 June 2023
Emily King Maciu Lumelume - Resigned 26 March 2024
Josephine Yee Joy Peter Aitsi - Appointed 25 May 2023
Sufinaaz Dean Rajesh Patel - Appointed 1 June 2023

Prastika Payal - Appointed 26 March 2024

Ownership interest in related parties
Country of incorporation and

operation Ownership Interest

2023 2022

FM Haus Ples Limited (a) Papua New Guinea 100% 100%
PNG FM Limited (a) Papua New Guinea 100% 100%
231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte Limited (Associate) Fiji 50% 50%
Paradise Cinema (PNG) Limited Papua New Guinea - 44%

(a) The consolidated financial statements includes subsidiary, PNG FM Limited and FM Haus Ples Limited.
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29. Related party disclosures continued

d)

e)

f)

Transactions and balances with related parties

Transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 with approximate transaction
values are summarized as follows:

2023 2022
Relationship Nature of Transaction $ $
Shareholder related entities
BSP Life (Fiji Ltd) Sales 29,000 30,270
Fiji Care Insurance Medical insurance 57,171 44,435
Subsidiaries
PNG FM Limited Management fees expense paid to CFL 354,798 342,778
PNG FM Limited Recharges 14,800 -
Advances provided by PNG FM Limited to FM
PNG FM Limited Haus Ples Limited 2,120,224 191,420
Associate company
231 Waimanu Rd Rental expense 205,465 155,441
Holdings Pte Limited Dividend 100,000 140,000
Management and administrative fees 14,084 13,526

Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

Balances payable to Communications Fiji Limited:

PNG FM Limited 432,612 410,679
FM Haus Ples Limited 5,205,734 3,332,367
Guarantees

During the year PNG FM Limited made advances to FM Haus Ples Limited of $2,120,224 (2022: $191,420) to
finance the construction of the commercial property in Port Moresby. PNG FM Limited has also provided guarantees
for the FM Haus Ples Limited for the WBC Loan, guarantee details are disclosed in Note 21.

Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise)
of that entity.

During the year, the General Manager, Chief Financial Officer and Head of Departments were identified as key
management personnel. The aggregate remuneration to the executives were:

2023 2022
$ $
Salaries and short-term employee benefits 903,245 884,901

Director’s interests in an employee-share incentive plan

No share options have been granted to staff, executives and the non-executive members of the Board of Directors
under this scheme.
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30. Capital management

31.

a)

b)

32.

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and a
healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, polices or processes during the year
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus debt. The Group's
policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 40%. The Group includes net debt, interest-bearing borrowings, trade and
other payables less cash and cash equivalents, excluding discounted operations. Capital includes any preference
shares, equity attributable to equity holders of the parent less any unrealised gains reserve.

2023 2022
$ $
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 21) 2,157,073 1,604,830
Trade and other payables (Note 20) 1,247,525 1,291,364
Less: cash and short-term deposits (Note 12) (976,539) (2,188,537)
Net debt 2,428,059 707,657
Equity 16,441,948 16,352,682
Total capital 16,441,948 16,352,682
Capital and net debt 18,870,007 17,060,339
Gearing ratio 13% 4%

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, among other things, aims to ensure that it
meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure
requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and
borrowings. There have been no breaches of the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in
the current period.

Company details
Company incorporation - Communications Fiji Limited

The legal form of the Company is a public company, domiciled and incorporated in the Republic of Fiji under the Fiji
Companies Act, 2015.

Registered office/Company operation

The Company'’s operations and registered office is located at 231 Waimanu Road, Suva whilst the subsidiaries are
registered and operate in Papua New Guinea. The Joint Venture Entity namely 231 Waimanu Rd Holdings Pte
Limited operates from 231 Waimanu Road, Suva.

Significant events during the year

In June 2023, the Government of Fiji announced its 2023-2024 National Budget which included a revision to the
income tax rate. The income tax rate was raised from 20% to 25% and impacts deferred tax balances recorded in the
current year at the revised rate which has been substantively enacted at 30 June 2023. This also impacts the
financial results, tax payable and deferred tax balances in the current and subsequent financial years.
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32.

32.

Significant events during the year continued

Apart from the above, there were no other significant matter or circumstances that had arisen during the financial
year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results or cash flows of
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

Events subsequent to balance date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may

significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in
future financial years.
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